IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECORDED
FILED
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-002410

Raymond D. Hobby Respondent

vs.

Mary T. Hobby Appellant

vs.

Frances B.B. Knowlton, individually and as trustee Respondent

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Pope D. Johnson, III
Attorney at Law
1230 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
803-799-9791
803-253-6084 (fax)
pope@popejohnsonlaw.com
Attorney for the Appellant

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-002410

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN ACTING AS A FACT FINDER, IN DISREGARDING THE AFFIDAVITS SUBMITTED BY MS. HOBBY AND IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE WERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AND/OR DISPUTED CONCLUSIONS TO BE DRAWN FROM THE FACTS

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN BECOMING A FACT FINDER, IN FINDING THAT MS. HOBBY HAD FAILED TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE THAT THE TRUSTEE HAD BREACHED HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY AND IN FINDING THAT THE TRUSTEE HAD AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE RIGHT TO DO WHAT HE DID

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRUSTEE ACTED IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE TRUST BY ACCEPTING THE "LEGITIMATE, TIMELY OFFER" WHEN THE TRUST DID NOT ACCEPT MR. HOBBY'S JANUARY 3, 2012 OFFER BUT MADE A NEW AND DIFFERENT AGREEMENT THAT WAS NOT DISCLOSED TO MS. HOBBY

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN BECOMING A FACT FINDER AND IN FINDING THAT MS. HOBBY WAS NOT MEDICALLY DISABLED FROM RESPONDING TO MR. HOBBY WHEN THE UNCONTRAVERTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED THAT SHE WAS

D. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TRUSTEE ACCEPTED MR. HOBBY'S OFFER, WHEN THE TRUSTEE HAD NOT AND IN SUGGESTING THAT THERE MIGHT BE A SUIT FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE AND IN FINDING IT WAS PRUDENT FOR THE TRUSTEE TO ACCEPT MR. HOBBY'S OFFER

E. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT MS. HOBBY'S OFFER WAS SUPERIOR AND THUS NO EVIDENCE OF A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES WHEN ATTORNEY MCDUGALL OFFERED OPINION EVIDENCE ON BOTH ISSUES

F. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN BECOMING A FACT FINDER AND IN DISREGARDING ATTORNEY MCDUGALL'S AFFIDAVIT AND IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS ONLY ONE REASONABLE INTERPRETATION OF THE LANGUAGE IN THE LIQUIDATING TRUST

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT IT WAS UNDISPUTED THAT MR. HOBBY OWNED 544 CROWDER ROAD AND COULD SUE FOR TRESPASS, HOLD OVER TENANT, BREACH OF CONTRACT, QUANTUM MERIT, WHEN OWNERSHIP WAS DISPUTED

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT MS. HOBBY FAILED TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE AFFECTING MR. HOBBY'S TITLE TO 544 CROWDER ROAD AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN BOTH OF HER EXPERTS DID SO IN THEIR AFFIDAVITS

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN CONSIDERING MR. HOBBY'S AFFIDAVIT AND OTHER SUBMISSIONS, WHICH WERE NOT SERVED WITH HIS MOTION AND THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE SHOULD HAVE DENIED HIS MOTION SINCE IT WAS NOT SERVED WITH ANY SUPPORTING AFFIDAVITS OR OTHER EVIDENCE

V. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN GRANTING MR. HOBBY'S AND THE TRUSTEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN DISCOVERY WAS NOT COMPLETE

VI. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WERE NO DISPUTED FACTUAL ISSUES AS TO MS. HOBBY'S LIABILITY AS A HOLD OVER TENANT, WHEN HER COUNSEL ADMITTED THAT FACTUAL ISSUES EXISTED

VII. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT MS. HOBBY AGREED TO MOVE OUT AND HAD BREACHED THE TERMS OF THE LIQUIDATING TRUST, WHEN THE TRUST IN NO WAY OBLIGATED HER TO VACATE

VIII. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE MISIDENTIFIED THE ELEMENTS OF A CIVIL ACTION FOR QUANTUM MERUIT AND HIS DECISION THAT QUANTUM MERUIT APPLIES MUST BE REVERSED

INTRODUCTION

This action involves the disposition of the former marital residence ("544 Crowder Road") of Raymond D. Hobby ("Mr. Hobby") and Mary T. Hobby ("Ms. Hobby") pursuant to the terms of a liquidating trust. Mr. and Ms. Hobby created the liquidating trust in their divorce action. The purpose of the trust was to dispose of their extensive marital property. Frank B.B. Knowlton ("Trustee") agreed to serve as trustee. The creation of a liquidating trust was approved in the family court as part of their settlement of issues in their divorce action. (R. p. 393)

The issue on appeal is whether the circuit court judge erred in granting partial summary judgment in favor of the Trustee and Mr. Hobby, finding that the Trustee had acted reasonably and properly in accordance with the terms of the liquidating trust and in finding that Mr. Hobby had purchased and owned 544 Crowder Road.

The facts are relatively straight forward. Ms. Hobby made a written offer to purchase Mr. Hobby's 57.5% interest in 544 Crowder Road from the Trustee. Her offer was based upon 544 Crowder Road being valued at \$225,000. (R. pp. 703-704)) Mr. Hobby then made a counteroffer to purchase her 42.5% interest in 544 Crowder Road based upon the property being valued at \$325,000. (R. pp. 705-708)

Mr. Hobby's offer was to pay the trust \$138,250 which the Trustee would then pay over to Ms. Hobby for her interest. Additionally, he offered to leave the property in the trust to sell with the adjoining property. Leaving the property in the trust was important to Ms. Hobby since she would have the right to continue to live in the residence rent free until the property was sold or she vacated it as set forth in the trust.

Shortly before Ms. Hobby made her offer, the Trustee paid himself fees totaling \$292,947. (R. pp. 730-731) The Trustee did not bother to send Mr. Hobby's offer to Ms. Hobby until 43 days after she submitted her offer. (R. pp. 705-708) Almost immediately thereafter, the Trustee began to clamor that the trust was cash strapped and could not pay certain ongoing debts. He notified Ms. Hobby that \$56,000, which was part of the cash Mr. Hobby had offered to pay her for her interest in 544 Crowder Road, would be used to service debt totaling \$55,970.83. (R. pp. 712-729)

Ms. Hobby had a medical problem that delayed her response. She submitted a statement from her doctor that she was not fit to participate in any court related activities. (R. pp. 717-718) However, prior to any contract being signed by the Trustee and Mr. Hobby, she submitted a second offer based upon a value of \$325,000. (R. p. 724) Her expert, Attorney McDougall, opined that her offer was superior to what Mr. Hobby agreed to pay. (R. p. 700; R. p. 699, R. pp. 730-756) The Trustee signed a Purchase Agreement with Mr. Hobby on April 19, 2013 and closed on the same day.

The Trustee had never shown the Purchase Agreement to Ms. Hobby and never gave her an opportunity to submit a different offer, if she chose to do so. The Purchase Agreement between Mr. Hobby and the Trustee were materially different from Mr. Hobby's original written offer. (R. pp. 758-774; R. pp. 705-708) It did not provide for any amount to be paid to Ms. Hobby. It said nothing about leaving 544 Crowder Road in the trust which would have given Ms. Hobby the right to live there until the property sold or she vacated.

The circuit court judge, in granting summary judgment to Mr. Hobby and the Trustee, violated a fundamental rule relating to construction of contracts. He violated rule after rule regarding motions for summary judgment. The circuit court judge ruled on the motions for summary judgment even though discovery was not complete and the depositions of the Trustee and Mr. Hobby, both key witnesses, had not been taken. The circuit court judge re-wrote the language of the liquidating trust as to the Trustee's power to sell trust assets to a transferor (Mr. Hobby or Ms. Hobby). The liquidating trust gave the Trustee broad powers to sell any trust asset to a third party. However, it had restrictions with respect to sales to a transferor. Under the specific trust language, the Trustee could only sell to a transferor if the terms of sale were reasonable, fair and reflected fair market value **and** any other terms mutually agreeable by the parties. However, the circuit court judge in making his analysis found that the liquidating trust provided as follows:

"Trustee could sell trust property to either Husband or Wife if the transaction was fair, reasonable, and for market value, or if the beneficiaries mutually agreed to other terms." (R. p. 13)

As shown below, the circuit court judge re-wrote the language of the trust. Although both of Ms. Hobby's experts had offered opinions that the Trustee had no authority to sell the property to Mr. Hobby and the sale was invalid, the circuit court judge became a fact finder, holding that it was undisputed that Mr. Hobby had purchased and owned 544 Crowder Road. The circuit court judge found that Ms. Hobby's experts should be disregarded when in fact they established that a dispute existed as to the actions of the Trustee and whether he had violated his fiduciary

duty and a dispute existed over the ownership of 544 Crowder Road. He also disregarded Ms. Hobby's experts regarding the need for further discovery.

South Carolina law does not allow a judge to re-write a contract. South Carolina law requires that discovery be complete before a judge rules on a motion for summary judgment. South Carolina law does not allow a judge on a motion for summary judgment to act as a fact finder and disregard one party's expert's opinions. South Carolina law requires that when experts reach different opinions from the same facts, motions for summary judgment must be denied and the dispute must be resolved by a jury. South Carolina law requires that the judge's order must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hobby filed his Complaint on April 26, 2013. On or about June 12, 2013, Mr. Hobby filed and served an Amended Complaint. In his Amended Complaint, he sought an order confirming his ownership of 544 Crowder Road and directing that Ms. Hobby vacate the marital home. He alleged causes of action against her for reasonable rent, trespass, breach of contract, breach of Ms. Hobby's promise to vacate the marital residence, unjust enrichment and damages as a result of her failure to vacate the home. (R. pp. 61-83)

On May 9, 2013, Ms. Hobby filed a timely Answer in which she denied all claims. On June 10, 2013, Ms. Hobby filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim and a Third Party Complaint against the Trustee. In her Amended Answer she asserted a general denial, a counterclaim for declaratory judgment, and a Third Party Complaint against the Trustee for indemnification. (R. pp. 57-59) On or about

October 7, 2013, Mr. Hobby filed a timely Reply to the Counterclaim and the Trustee filed a timely Answer to the Third Party Complaint on September 10, 2013. (R. pp. 133-134; R. pp. 124-128)

On or about July 8, 2013, Mr. Hobby filed a motion for partial summary judgment in which he asserted there were no genuine issues of material fact as to Ms. Hobby's liability for his claims. His motion was made upon the following grounds:

- "(1) This is a dispute over the use of real property ("Property") located in Newberry County;
- (2) There is no genuine issue of fact that the Property was sold;
- (3) There is no genuine issue of fact that Plaintiff has been the owner of the Property since April 1, 2012; and
- (4) There is no genuine issue of fact that Defendant has continued living on the Property after it was sold, without Plaintiff's permission and without making any payments to the Plaintiff." (R. p. 240)

Mr. Hobby did not file any affidavits with his motion but stated in his motion that he would rely on "the record in the case and the defendant's admissions".

On or about September 19, 2013, Ms. Hobby filed a motion for summary judgment upon the grounds that: (1) the evidence was undisputed; (2) the trustee acted outside of the scope of his powers and authority in quitclaiming the marital residence to the plaintiff; and (3) the quitclaim is therefore null and void. Ms. Hobby's motion was supported by the affidavits of Attorneys John O. McDougall and Arthur E. White, III. (Ms. Hobby's motion for summary judgment)

On or about December 23, 2013, the Trustee filed a motion for summary judgment asserting that there were no genuine issues of material fact and that the Third Party Defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. His motion was

made upon the following grounds:

“(1) Third Party Defendant Frances B. B. Knowlton acted as a prudent trustee exercising the required reasonable care, skill and caution under the circumstances in this case;

(2) Third Party Defendant Frances B. B. Knowlton breached no duty owed to Third Party Plaintiff Mary T. Hobby;

(3) Third Party Defendant Frances B. B. Knowlton breached no duty owed to Third Party Plaintiff Mary T. Hobby which has proximately resulted in any damage to the Third Party Plaintiff; and

(4) That the language of the Final Divorce Decree and Order which created the Hobby Liquidating Trust and the Hobby Family Liquidating Trust, copies of which documents are incorporated by reference herein gave the Third Party Defendant Frances B. B. Knowlton the authority to sell the residence referred to in the Third Party Complaint to Raymond D. Hobby for his offer that was reasonable, fair and reflected market value in that the language of the Final Divorce Decree and Order provides:

Either party may purchase any asset from the trust, provided the sale terms are reasonable, fair and reflect fair market value or other terms mutually agreeable to the parties. (Order dated October 10, 2010 at paragraph 3 f.)

and the Trust Agreement provides:

Trustee may sell any Trust Asset to a Transferor [as defined in the Order and Trust Agreement] provided the sale and terms of sale are reasonable, fair and reflect fair market value and any other terms mutually agreeable by the parties.” (R. pp. 355-356)

The motions were heard by the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. on March 12, 2014. By an Order dated May 6, 2014, Judge Addy granted the motions of Mr. Hobby and the Trustee and denied the motion of Ms. Hobby. (See Order dated May 6, 2014) Ms. Hobby filed a timely motion to reconsider, alter or amend, which Judge Addy denied without explanation in an Order dated October 17, 2014. (R. pp. 27-28) This appeal was promptly filed.

BACKGROUND

On December 8, 2011, Ms. Hobby submitted an offer to the Trustee to buy Mr. Hobby's interest in 544 Crowder Road based on a valuation of \$225,000. At this

time, Ms. Hobby held title to 544 Crowder Road. She offered to pay the trust \$127,231 and she consented to those funds being paid to Mr. Hobby in exchange for his 57.5% interest in 544 Crowder Road.

On January 3, 2012, Mr. Hobby made an offer to purchase 544 Crowder Road based on a valuation of \$325,000.00. He offered the following:

"I greatly appreciate the opportunity to make an offer to purchase the property in Kinards, SC, 544 Crowder Road and surrounding acreage. It is my opinion that this property is essential to the value of the overall property holdings that surround it and being extracted from the farm will drastically damage the total value of the property. Therefore, I would extend an offer to the trust to purchase Ms. Hobby's interest of 42 ½% to maintain the most value and marketable position for the overall property.

I am offering to purchase this property for \$138,125.00 as is where is. This is based on the 42 ½% of the full \$325,000.00 appraisal that was used in the evaluation of material assets at the time of divorce and was agreed on by both parties. No broker discounts, no commissions, no reductions for any reasons.

I am further offering to leave this asset in the Trust to maximize the properties value for any future sale opportunities and receive no distributions until the property is sold and all trust liabilities are satisfied.

According to Ms. Hobby's appraisal it contends the property isn't worth that amount. I, as stated above disagree not only for the overall value of the total farm but feel the size, quality and location of the home keeps it at the former numbers.

As to reimbursements for expenses to Ms. Hobby for taxes, maintenance and repairs, these should be denied. If there is any devaluation or cost to maintain this property it should be borne by Ms. Hobby for failure to comply with the final divorce order to convey this property into the trust. As you know I personally have not asked to date for any reimbursements for funds I have advance on behalf of trust assets, taxes, maintenance, repairs, mortgage payments, interest or any other cost associated. This will be accounted for when the trust is solvent and has adequate cash flows." (Emphasis supplied)

His offer, it bears emphasis, was to purchase Ms. Hobby's interest in 544 Crowder Road, not put funds in the trust to service debt. All he was going to pay was \$138,125 to be used to pay Ms. Hobby for her 42 ½% interest in the property.

Mr. Hobby's offer was dated January 3, 2012. Although the Trustee later claimed to be pressed for cash, the Trustee did not bother to forward his offer to Ms. Hobby and her attorney until after the close of business on January 20, 2012, some 43 days after Ms. Hobby had submitted her offer. The Trustee advised that he would close on Mr. Hobby's offer by January 31, 2012 unless she made a better offer in the interim. In other words, the Trustee had piddled around in notifying her of Mr. Hobby's offer but gave her 11 days within which to respond. The Trustee did not hold title to 544 Crowder Road at this time.

On January 31, 2012, the Trustee again wrote Ms. Hobby's attorney, John McDougall, informing him that the trust's mortgage payments (on various trust assets) were becoming due and that the Trustee could not wait more than a day or two for her to make a better offer. Two days later, on February 2nd, the Trustee advised Ms. Hobby's attorney that the trust could not meet its obligations and needed an immediate cash infusion of \$56,000 to service its debts.

On February 7, 2012, the Trustee advised Ms. Hobby and her attorney that he had a check in hand for \$56,000 from Mr. Hobby as an advance on the purchase of the 544 Crowder Road and that he would have to accept Mr. Hobby's offer unless she made a materially better offer by close of business that day. However, the Trustee did not offer any explanation as to how Mr. Hobby's offer which was to pay

Ms. Hobby for her interest, would provide the trust with cash to service debt. The trust did not even have title to 544 Crowder Road at this time and whether or when the trust would obtain title was then unknown. No written contract was signed. However, the Trustee did not send the \$56,000 to Ms. Hobby to begin the buyout of her interest.

On February 7, 2012, Attorney McDougall wrote the Trustee:

"In follow up to our telephone conversation of today's date, this is to advise and confirm that I have been unable to communicate with Mary Hobby throughout the day on yesterday's date and today's date. I do not know whether she has had an opportunity to see your email of today's date regarding the 544 Crowder Road property, I do not know whether she is in town or out of town, and I do not know whether she is hospitalized or not. I do know that when I spoke with her on Friday, February 3, she was in a great deal of pain, and she was not able to make a decision regarding a counterproposal regarding the 544 Crowder Road property due to pain, medication, etc. I will continue to attempt to communicate with Mary Hobby regarding this matter, I realize that time is of the essence, and I will be back in touch with you on this matter by tomorrow, February 8. I do request that you not finalize any proposals regarding the sale of this property with Mr. Hobby until I have had an opportunity to communicate with Ms. Hobby regarding same."

On February 8, 2012, Attorney McDougall wrote the Trustee:

"I am enclosing a copy of the fax transmittal which I have received from Moore Orthopaedics, John Clavet, MD, regarding Mary Hobby. Please note that Mary is under his medical care and it is his opinion that she is not fit to participate in any court-related duties at this time, which, as I understand it, includes making a decision on the counterproposal that she intends to make regarding the purchase of 544 Crowder Road.

I have just spoken with Mary and she assures me that she is quite interested in purchasing this property out of the trust, that she does intend to submit a viable counterproposal to purchase this property, and that she would object to the property being sold to Ray Hobby at this time.

As I have previously advised you, Mary Hobby has been in extreme pain during recent weeks and has been heavily medicated for that pain. This

has interfered with her being able to respond to the counterproposal received from you/Ray Hobby, which was sent to her, me, at 5:12 p.m. on Friday, January 20, after our office was closed, which I did not review until Monday, January 23, at which time I forwarded it to Mary Hobby for her review.

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