THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUN 02 2015

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2013-CP-36-193
Tracking No. 2014-002410

Raymond D. Hobby, *Respondent,*

v.

Mary T. Hobby, *Appellant,*

v.

Frances B. Knowlton, Individually and as Trustee, *Respondent.*

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
FRANCES B. KNOWLTON (CORRECTLY KNOWN AS FRANCIS B. B.
KNOWLTON)

R. Davis Howser
Jeffrey Silverberg
Howser, Newman & Besley, LLC
Post Office Box 12009
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: (803) 758-6000
Fax: (803) 758-4445
rdhowser@hnblaw.com
jsilverberg@hnblaw.com

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

Second, to the extent that the trial judge interpreted the word “and” in Article IX (a)(xxxii) to mean “or”, such an interpretation is consistent with the intent of the parties and the Trust Agreement’s purpose. *See Smith v. United Television, Inc. Special Severance Plan*, 474 F.3d 1033, 1037 (8th Cir. 2007) (noting that “courts have recognized the principle of contract interpretation that the terms ‘and’ and ‘or’ may be interchanged, in context, to carry out the parties’ intent and the agreement’s purpose”); *Dumont v. United States*, 98 U.S. 142, 143, 25 L. Ed. 65 (1878) (“The word ‘or’ is frequently construed to mean ‘and,’ and *vice versa*, in order to carry out the evident intent of the parties.”).⁴ The trial judge held that to interpret Article IX (a)(xxxii) to require consent from one beneficiary before selling a trust asset to the other beneficiary is contrary to the intent of the parties and would frustrate the purpose of the Trust as a liquidating trust: “Allowing one beneficiary to have unconstrained veto power over a commercially reasonable and fair sale of trust property would frustrate the

⁴ Trustee argued the interchangeability of the terms “and” and “or” in his memorandum of law in opposition to Ms. Hobby’s Motion for Summary Judgment and at the Summary Judgment Hearing. (Third Party Def. Mem. Opp’n Third Party Pl. Mot. Summ. J. 11, R. p. 488; Tr. R. 12:16-19, R. p. 170, line 16-19)

Trustee's obligation to sell trust assets 'in a timely, prudent and efficient manner.' Trust Agreement, Article I (c)." (R. p. 25, n. 5).⁵

Third, Ms. Hobby's argument that the trial judge rewrote the Trust Agreement by inserting the word "or" in place of "and" ignores the fact that the Divorce Decree, pursuant to which the Trust Agreement was created, also uses the word "or" rather than "and" when prescribing the circumstances in which Mr. Hobby and Ms. Hobby could purchase a trust asset. According to the Divorce Decree:

To effectuate a complete, fair and equitable apportionment of marital assets and debts, the parties shall create a trust. **The following terms shall govern the parties in the creation and operation of this trust** and/or are relevant regarding each party's interest in this trust and the assets and debts to be placed in it.

⁵ The trial judge expanded upon his reasoning at the hearing on Ms. Hobby's Rule 59 Motion:

THE COURT: . . . Just so that I'm fully understood. It's the very acrimony in that divorce that, based upon Ms. Hobby's interpretation of the trust agreement, that would essentially frustrate the trust agreement. As a practical matter, currently she is residing in the house. She has been there for the period of time since the parties separated, and she doesn't want to leave. And that's simply the brass tacks.

MR. JOHNSON: I understand.

THE COURT: . . . But if the court were to read the trust agreement with the conjunctive "and" instead of the disjunctive "or" then essentially there would be no way for the liquidating trust, because she has no desire to leave the house. She has no intention to leave the house . . . So if she has to sign off on anything and everything that is done in terms of liquidating any property placed into the trust, if she has to mutually agree on the terms of any liquidation, regardless of how fair, reasonable or what have you the terms might be, she has the automatic authority to frustrate the very underlying purpose of that trust. And I do understand your position though on the "and" as opposed to "or".

(R. p. 228, line 16-p. 229, line 15)

It is also noteworthy that Ms. Hobby herself admitted in her deposition that she did not believe she had the authority under the Trust Agreement to veto or approve the sale of trust property. (*See* R. p. 660, line 16-p.661, line 6; p. 662, line 13-p.664, line 5) Although at one point during her deposition Ms. Hobby suggested she did have the right to object to the sale of 544 Crowder Road to Mr. Hobby, she refused to admit that Mr. Hobby had a reciprocal right to object to the sale of the home to her. (R. p. 665, line 21-p. 666, line 25) Interpreting the Trust Agreement to provide only Ms. Hobby with veto power is illogical and contradicts the plain language and meaning of Article IX (a)(xxxii).

a. **This trust is created pursuant to this Order. . . .**

. . .

f. Either party may purchase any asset from the trust, provided the sale and terms are reasonable, fair, and reflect fair market value **or** other terms mutually agreeable to the parties

(R. pp. 1139-1140) (Emphasis added).

Whereas Article IX (a)(xxxii) of the Trust Agreement contains the conjunctive “and” prior to the clause “any other terms mutually agreeable by the parties,” the Divorce Decree uses the disjunctive “or.” Since the Divorce Decree expressly states its terms “shall govern the parties in the creation and operation of [the] trust,” the language of the Divorce Decree must control the interpretation of Article IX (a)(xxxii). In fact, the trial judge acknowledged the controlling nature of the Divorce Decree during the hearing on Ms. Hobby’s Rule 59 Motion:

THE COURT: . . . I would think as an initial matter that the divorce decree obviously would, since it’s the instrument or it’s the order of the court sets up the manner in which the parties are going to finalize the equitable distribution of the property, it would have to control and supercede any subsequent document, especially since obviously it’s—it’s a product of something that the parties agreed to at the time of the domestic litigation. . . .

(R. p. 235, lines 7-14). Moreover, the Trust Agreement itself acknowledges the controlling nature of the Divorce Decree. According to the Trust Agreement, “The Liquidating Trust . . . was created pursuant to the Final Order and Divorce Decree dated October 8, 2010, of the Honorable Joseph W. McGowan, III, Judge of the Family Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit.” (Trust Agreement, Article I(a), R. p. 529). Thus, interpreting the word “and” within Article IX (a)(xxxii) to mean “or” is not only consistent with the parties’ intent in creating the Trust Agreement, but also consistent with the language used in the Divorce Decree.

Finally, Ms. Hobby's contention that the trial court misinterpreted the Trust Agreement fails to consider the trial judge's alternative sustaining grounds for holding that the Trustee did not breach any fiduciary duty by selling the Residence to Mr. Hobby under the circumstances. According to the trial judge's Order:

As alternate sustaining grounds, the Court finds the Trustee acted in reasonable reliance on the terms of the Trust as expressed in the Trust Agreement when he sold the House to Husband. *See* S.C. Code § 62-7-1006 (trustee who acts in reasonable reliance on the terms of the trust as expressed in the trust instrument is not liable to a beneficiary for a breach of trust to the extent the breach resulted from the reliance.)

(R. p. 19). Thus, the trial judge held that, even if Ms. Hobby's interpretation of Article IX (a)(xxxii) is correct, the Trustee's actions surrounding the sale of the Residence were consistent with a reasonable interpretation of the Trust Agreement and the Trustee's reliance thereon was reasonable.

B. THE TRUSTEE DID NOT BREACH HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY BY FAILING TO SEEK COURT APPROVAL OF THE SALE OF THE RESIDENCE TO MR. HOBBY

Ms. Hobby contends that Trustee had "a fiduciary duty to seek court approval" of the sale of the Residence to Mr. Hobby. (Brief of Appellant 16) However, this is in contravention of the express language of the Trust Agreement. According to the Trust Agreement, Trustee was authorized to sell trust property without a court order:

Powers for Trustee. Consistent with the purposes of the Trust as a liquidating Trust and the purposes as further described in Article I (c), **the Trustee is authorized in its fiduciary discretion** (which shall be subject to the standard of reasonableness and good faith to all beneficiaries) **with respect to any property, real or personal, . . . without authorization by any court . . . :**

(xxxii) **To sell, convey or otherwise deal with or dispose of any and all Trust Assets forming a part of the Liquidating Trust estate,** at such time or times and in such manner and upon such terms as, in the absolute

and uncontrolled discretion of the Trustee may [sic] deem expedient and proper, provided, however, that i) Trustee shall have an obligation to exercise appropriate and reasonable due diligence with respect to the sale of any Trust Asset such that Trustee is reasonably satisfied that any sale has occurred on an arms-length basis and has maximized the value of the Trust Asset being divested, and ii) Trustee may sell any Trust Asset to a Transferor provided the sale and terms of sale are reasonable, fair, and reflect fair market value and any other terms mutually agreeable by the parties.

(Trust Agreement, Article IX (a), R. p. 535-539) (Emphasis added).

To the extent Ms. Hobby argues Trustee abused his fiduciary discretion in not seeking court approval, she has failed to present any evidence that Trustee did not exercise his discretion reasonably and in good faith under the circumstances. She also failed to show Trustee did not exercise appropriate and reasonable due diligence with respect to the sale of the Residence to Mr. Hobby.

A trustee's discretion must be exercised in good faith, consistent with the primary purpose of the trust. *Sarlin v. Sarlin*, 312 S.C. 27, 30, 430 S.E.2d 530, 532 (Ct. App. 1993). "The mere fact that if the discretion had been conferred upon the court, it would have exercised the power differently is not a sufficient reason for interfering with the exercise of the power by the trustee. *Estate of Stevens v. Lutch*, 365 S.C. 427, 431, 617 S.E.2d 736, 738 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Here, not only was seeking court approval of the sale unnecessary, it would have been impractical. As the trial judge noted at the March 12, 2014 hearing:

THE COURT: ...[T]he reason that the Uniform Trust Code grants the level of discretion to the Trustee that it does—and for the what it's worth category, I was one of the people who worked on the revised Uniform Trust Code when it passed years ago. If you Monday morning quarterback the Trustee in situations like it appears the Defendant is trying to do, it doesn't take into account the very real urgency of making a decision. Sometimes a decision has to be made. And maybe it's not a perfect decision, but it's a decision that circumstances are compelling a

Trustee to make. To accept your argument would render practically every trust unworkable, especially under these facts, because what's being represented is that the Trustee needed cash. There were obligations to service. If the Trustee—their point is well taken. That if the Trustee had petitioned the court to get approval of this . . . the trust goes into default on various obligations and the Trustee is left with even a greater bird's nest to untangle than he had initially. You may have an argument. But it's clear that she had time to consider an offer. I'm sorry she had a pinched nerve. But, I mean, I've had a pinched nerve before. It doesn't keep the brain from working, and she could have made an offer.

(R. p. 191, line 3-p.192, line 5). Moreover, according to Trustee's trust expert, Julian Walker, Jr., a prudent trustee would not have sought court approval under the circumstances.

(Julian Walker, Jr. Dep., R. p. 1223, lines 10-19)

In addition, the undisputed facts establish that Trustee exercised appropriate and reasonable due diligence in selling the Residence in the manner that he did. Under the Trust Agreement, Trustee has the authority to sell trust assets “at such time or times and in such manner and upon such terms as, in the absolute and uncontrolled discretion of the Trustee[, the Trustee] may deem expedient and proper,” so long as he acts with appropriate and reasonable due diligence and the sale is one at arms-length, is fair and reasonable, and reflects market value. (Article IX (a) (xxxii), R. p. 539)

Here, Ms. Hobby has not presented any evidence to suggest that Trustee failed to exercise appropriate and reasonable due diligence. While Ms. Hobby questions the terms of the ultimate Purchase Agreement, Trustee had the discretion to enter a contract to sell the Residence on whatever terms he deemed appropriate and in the best interest of the trust, so long as it was an arms-length transaction, reasonably maximized the value of the property, and reflected fair market value. No one has questioned whether Mr. Hobby's offer was for fair market value or whether it was the best offer in front of the Trustee at the time he decided to accept it and the advance of the purchase price on February 9, 2012. There is also

no evidence that the sale was not one at arms-length, as the record reflects Trustee gave Ms. Hobby ample time (18 days) to make a counteroffer to purchase the Residence before he conveyed his decision to accept Mr. Hobby's offer. Moreover, the Trust's overriding purpose, and Trustee's overall obligation, is to liquidate the assets of the Trust. By accepting Mr. Hobby's offer, Trustee exercised his discretion in good faith and consistently with the Trust's purpose. He also exercised appropriate and reasonable due diligence before accepting Mr. Hobby's offer by conferring with the Trust's independent accountant beforehand to determine which offer was more beneficial to the Trust.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT TRUSTEE ACTED PRUDENTLY AND IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE TRUST WHEN HE DECIDED TO ACCEPT MR. HOBBY'S OFFER TO PURCHASE THE RESIDENCE

Ms. Hobby maintains that she had a medical reason for not responding to Trustee's requests for a counteroffer, and that the trial judge erred in holding her medical condition did not excuse her delay in responding. (Brief of Appellant 21-2). However, even assuming arguendo that Ms. Hobby was prevented from making a counteroffer to Trustee due to a medical condition, this fact is immaterial to the trial judge's determination that Trustee did not breach any fiduciary duty by accepting Mr. Hobby's offer. According to the judge's Order, "Circumstances required the Trustee to act swiftly and make a decision which was in the best interest of the Trust and its beneficiaries, and the Trust was best served by accepting a legitimate, timely offer which allowed it to service urgent financial obligations." (R. p. 17)

It is undisputed that at the time Trustee accepted Mr. Hobby's offer the Trust was in need of a cash infusion as it was on the brink of defaulting on several debts.⁶ Trustee had informed Ms. Hobby and McDougall of the Trust's need for a cash infusion as early as January 23, 2012—three days after providing them with a copy of Mr. Hobby's offer. It was on this date that Trustee also informed Ms. Hobby and McDougall that time was of the essence if Ms. Hobby intended to make a counteroffer given the Trust's financial situation. Ms. Hobby and McDougall were well aware of the Trustee's predicament as the parties communicated frequently over the course of the next two weeks regarding the Trust's financial situation and the need for a cash infusion to service the Trust's debts. Ms. Hobby and McDougall were also aware of the fact that Raymond Hobby had agreed to pay into the Trust the funds necessary to cover the expenses for February 2012 as an advance under his offer to buy the Residence. The undisputed evidence shows that after waiting a total of eighteen (18) days for Ms. Hobby to provide him with a counteroffer for the purchase of the Residence to no avail, Trustee had no choice but to accept Mr. Hobby's offer and cash advance to ensure that the Trust could meet its financial obligations. This was the reality of the situation regardless of the reason why Ms. Hobby failed to make a counteroffer.

The facts surrounding Trustee's sale of the Residence to Mr. Hobby are analogous to the facts in *Ex parte Wheeler v. Estate of Green*, 381 S.C. 548, 673 S.E.2d 836 (Ct. App. 2009). In *Ex parte Wheeler*, beneficiaries under a decedent's will and a prospective purchaser of the decedent's residence alleged the Personal Representative (PR) of the

⁶ Ms. Hobby alleges in her Brief that the financial problems of the Trust were caused by the Trustee depleting the Trust's cash "to pay his fees and expenses of \$292,947." (Brief of Appellant 21). However, Ms. Hobby makes this allegation for the first time in her Brief, and thus it is unpreserved for this appeal. To the extent that this issue is preserved, Ms. Hobby's allegation is not supported by any admissible evidence in the record on appeal and should not be considered by this Court.

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